**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

No. 16-0287

(Polk County No. LACL131913)

---

Susan Ackerman,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

State of Iowa, Iowa Workforce Development,  
Teresa Wahlert, Teresa Hillary, and Devon Lewis

Defendants-Appellees

---

Appeal from the Iowa District Court in and for Polk County

The Honorable Scott D. Rosenberg

---

Plaintiff-Appellant's Final Brief

---

William W. Graham AT 0002953

Wesley T. Graham AT 0011184

Graham, Ervanian & Cacciatore, L.L.P.

317 6<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 900

Des Moines, IA 50309

Telephone: 515-244-9400

Facsimile: 515-282-4235

[wwg@grahamlawiowa.com](mailto:wwg@grahamlawiowa.com)

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY CONSIDERING THE TERMS OF THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT AND PLAINTIFF’S GRIEVANCE FILING IN RULING ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS.**

*Mueller v. Wellmark, Inc.*, 818 N.W.2d 244 (Iowa 2012)  
*Warford v. Des Moines Transit Auth.*, 381 N.W.2d 622 (Iowa 1986)  
*Curtis v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 270 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 1978)  
*Dier v. Peters*, 815 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa Code § 70A.28 (2015)

**II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT THE TORT OF WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY WAS NOT AVAILABLE TO PLAINTIFF BECAUSE SHE WAS PARTY TO A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT.**

**A. Preservation of Error.**

**B. Standard of Review.**

*Mueller v. Wellmark, Inc.*, 818 N.W.2d 244 (Iowa 2012)  
*Geisler v. City Council of Cedar Falls*, 769 N.W.2d 162 (Iowa 2009)  
*Rees v. City of Shenandoah*, 682 N.W.2d 77 (Iowa 2004)  
*Berger v. General United Group, Inc.*, 268 N.W.2d 630 (Iowa 1978)

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.403 (2015)

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.421(2015)

**C. Argument.**

**1. Under Iowa law, Employees Covered by a CBA have a Recognizable State Tort Claim for Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy.**

*Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc.*, 764 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2009)

*Conaway v. Webster City Prods., Co.*, 431 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1988)  
*Springer v. Weeks and Leo Co.*, 429 N.W.2d 558 (Iowa 1988)  
*McMicheal v. MidAmerican Energy Co.*, 2012 Iowa App. LEXIS 932  
(Iowa Ct. App., Oct. 31, 2012)  
*Lingle v. Norge Div. of Magic Chef, Inc.*, 486 U.S. 399 (1988)

Iowa Code § 20.7 (2015)

**2. Incorporation of Iowa Code § 70A.28's Anti-Retaliation Language into the CBA Should Not Bar Plaintiff from Pursuing Her Claim for Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy.**

*Conaway v. Webster City Prods., Co.*, 431 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1988)  
*Fitzgerald v. Salsbury Chem., Inc.*, 613 N.W.2d 275 (Iowa 2000)  
*Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc.*, 764 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2009)  
*Dorshkind v. Oak Park Place of Dubuque II, L.L.C.*, 835 N.W.2d 293  
(Iowa 2013)  
*Klepsky v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 489 F.3d 263 (6th Cir. 2007)  
*Cullen v. E.H. Freidrich Co.*, 910 F. Supp. 815 (D. Mass 1995)  
*Paradis v. United Tech., Pratt & Whitney Div.*, 672 F. Supp. 67 (D. Conn. 1987)  
*Davies v. Am. Airlines*, 971 F.2d 463 (10th Cir. 1992)  
*Gonzalez v. Prestress Eng. Corp.*, 503 N.E.2d 308 (Ill. 1986)  
*Midgett v. Sackett-Chicago, Inc.*, 473 N.E.2d 1280 (Ill. 1984)  
*Coleman v. Safeway Stores*, 752 P.2d 645, 652 (Kan. 1988)  
*Le Pore v. Nat'l Tool & Mfg. Co.*, 557 A.2d 1371 (N.J. 1989)  
*Retherford v. AT&T Commc 'ns*, 844 P.2d 949 (Utah 1992)  
*Smith v. Bates Tech. College*, 991 P.2d 1135 (Wash. 2000)

Iowa Code § 70A.28 (2015)

Restatement of the Law, Employment Law § 5.01 (2015)

**3. The District Court Erred by Relying on the Eighth Circuit's *Hagen* Decision.**

*Hagen v. Siouxland Obstetrics & Gynecology, PC*, 799 F.3d 922 (8th Cir. 2015)  
*Pearson v. Robinson*, 318 N.W.2d 188 (Iowa 1982)



*Hagen v. Siouxland Obstetrics & Gynecology, P.C.*, 964 F. Supp. 2d 951 (N.D. Iowa 2013)

*Hagen v. Siouxland Obstetrics & Gynecology, P.C.*, 849 N.W.2d 25 (Iowa 2014)

*Hagen v. Siouxland Obstetrics & Gynecology, P.C.*, 23 F. Supp. 2d 991 (N.D. Iowa 2014)

*Conaway v. Webster City Prods., Co.*, 431 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1988)

*Willitts v. Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston*, 581 N.E.2d 475 (Mass. 1991)

*Keveney v. Mo. Military Acad.*, 304 S.W.2d 98 (Mo. 2010)

*Coleman v. Safeway Stores*, 752 P.2d 645, 652 (Kan. 1988)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it presents a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public importance requiring prompt determination by the Supreme Court, namely, whether an employee covered by a collective bargaining agreement (a “CBA”) has a recognizable tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 13, 2015, Plaintiff-Appellant Susan Ackerman (“Ackerman”) filed a Petition in the Iowa District Court for Polk County against Defendants the State of Iowa, Iowa Workforce Development (“IWD”), Teresa Wahlert (“Wahlert”), Teresa Hillary (“Hillary”) and Devon Lewis (“Lewis”), together herein referred to as “Defendants.” On February 10, 2015, Ackerman filed an Amended Petition. On March 10, 2015, Defendants brought a motion to dismiss Counts II through VI of Ackerman’s Amended Petition. The District Court denied this motion, in its entirety, on June 10, 2015. On June 25, 2015, the Court granted Ackerman’s consented motion to amend her Amended Petition, and Ackerman filed her Second Amended Petition on July 6, 2015. On November 17, 2015, the Court granted Ackerman’s consented motion to amend her Second Amended Petition, and Ackerman filed her Third Amended Petition on November 18, 2015 (the “Third Amended Petition”).

The Third Amended Petition contained eight counts: Count I for violations of Iowa Code § 70A.28; Count II for defamation; Count III for intentional interference with contractual relations; Count IV for breach of contract – third-party beneficiary; Count V for violation of Iowa Code Chapter 22; Count VI for violation of the First Amendment under 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983; Count VII for intentional infliction of emotional distress; and Count VIII for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. (Appendix (“App.”) at 9-14). Counts VII and VIII were new theories of relief, asserted after Ackerman notified the State Appeal Board that she was withdrawing these claims from consideration pursuant to Iowa Code § 669.5. (*Id.* at 13-14).

On November 30, 2015, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss Count VIII of the Third Amended Petition, Ackerman’s claim of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy (the “Motion to Dismiss”). The Defendants’ sole argument in support of their motion was that Ackerman was not an at-will employee, but covered by a CBA, and therefore Ackerman was barred from bringing the claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. (*Id.* at 16-21).

The District Court heard oral arguments on the Motion to Dismiss Count VIII on January 11, 2016. On January 26, 2016, the District Court issued its Ruling and Order on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Count VIII of Plaintiff’s Third Amended Petition and granted the Defendants’ motion, resulting in dismissal of Count VIII of the Third Amended Petition (the “Ruling”).

The Ruling first summarized the parties’ respective arguments, and

the tort for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. While it stated that Ackerman was relying on the Iowa Supreme Court decision *Conaway v. Webster City Prods., Co.*, 431 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1988) for her position that an employee covered by a CBA has a recognizable wrongful discharge tort claim, and also referenced two other Iowa Supreme Court decisions in support of its Ruling, the District Court primarily relied on the recent United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit case, *Hagen v. Siouxland Obstetrics & Gynecology, PC*, 799 F.3d 922 (8th Cir. 2015), in concluding that the wrongful discharge claim “under Iowa law is a narrow, well recognized exception to the at-will doctrine.” (App. at 35 (“The 8th Circuit Court of Appeals essentially concluded that if an employee has other avenues to challenge his or her termination where the employee can argue that there was no just cause for the termination for engaging in protected activity then the tort of wrongful discharge does not apply.”) (citing *Hagen*, 799 F.3d at 928-30)).

The District Court concluded that Ackerman’s “employment is subject to a collective bargaining agreement, negotiated for her and others in her person.” (App. at 36). Based on the Eighth Circuit’s decision in *Hagen*, the District Court ruled that “[t]o the extent that the [collective bargaining] agreement provides for a remedy relating to wrongful discharge, Plaintiff is

not allowed to apply the narrow exception Iowa courts have reserved for at-will employment to her current situation,” and therefore sustained Defendants’ motion and dismissed Count VIII of Ackerman’s Third Amended Petition. (*Id.*).

Ackerman timely filed her Application for Interlocutory Appeal from the Polk County District Court’s Ruling of January 26, 2016, which the Iowa Supreme Court granted on March 25, 2016.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Ackerman was an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) employed by IWD in its unemployment insurance appeals bureau (the “Bureau”). (App. 1-2). Ackerman was an ALJ with IWD from 2000 to 2015. (*Id.*).

During her first formal evaluation with IWD in 2002, Ackerman received a “meets or exceeds expectations.” (*Id.* at 2). From 2003 through 2010, Ackerman received “exceeds expectations” in seven annual reviews and only one “meets expectation” in 2006. (*Id.*).

Ackerman’s next formal review was completed by Wahlert on August 9, 2013. (*Id.*). Wahlert indicated Ackerman met expectations in two areas but provided no rating in the other six areas. Additionally, no overall rating was provided by Wahlert. (*Id.*). For her 2013-14 annual performance review, Ackerman received a “does not meet expectations / meets

expectations” rating, but that rating was in retaliation for Ackerman’s protected conduct, as described in the Third Amended Petition. (*Id.*).

Wahlert was a political appointee by Governor Branstad, having been appointed as director of IWD in 2011. (*Id.*).

Since her appointment, Wahlert has interfered with the Bureau’s work, attempting to turn a fair and impartial administration of unemployment benefits into a process that is biased in favor of employers over employees. (*Id.*).

Wahlert, Hillary and Lewis engaged in a systematic effort to harass and bully the Bureau’s ALJs and other employees for purposes of either getting the ALJs to rule in favor of employers, or force out of the Bureau the ALJs who would not bend to Wahlert’s will. (*Id.* at 4).

Beginning in the summer of 2013, Ackerman repeatedly made a concerted effort to stand up against Wahlert’s, Hillary’s and Lewis’s actions, repeatedly speaking out on behalf of herself and her co-workers. (*Id.*).

On December 3, 2013, Ackerman went on FMLA leave for worsening depression due to job-related stress. Ackerman returned to work on December 30, 2013 and worked full-time in the office (*Id.* at 5).

Ackerman’s sick leave is a contractual benefit and doctor’s notes can only be requested if the employer suspects abuse. (*Id.*). Ackerman did not

abuse sick leave, but Wahlert and others at her direction questioned Ackerman about sick leave requests and demanded medical excuses while other employees requesting the same amount of time were not required to obtain medical excuses. (*Id.*). This further harassment caused Ackerman to go out on FMLA leave from March 6, 2014, through March 14, 2014. (*Id.* at 6).

In 2014, State Senator Bill Dotzler released a letter he sent to the Department of Labor requesting it investigate Wahlert's efforts to harass and improperly influence Bureau ALJs. (*Id.*). Senator Dotzler submitted supporting documents with his letter to the DOL, which included certain e-mail communications between Ackerman and Wahlert and Hillary. (*Id.*). Consequently, these documents became public. (*Id.*). Ackerman did not personally provide these e-mails to Dotzler. (*Id.*). In response to the publication of the communications, Wahlert subjected Ackerman to a disciplinary proceeding conducted by Jon Nelson. (*Id.*).

Ackerman again had to take FMLA leave from July 9, 2014, through August 4, 2014, due to anxiety and depression resulting from deteriorating work conditions. (*Id.* at 6-7).

In August 2014, Wahlert e-mailed Ackerman to set up a time for Ackerman's yearly evaluation. (*Id.* at 7). Subsequently, the Senate



Government Oversight Committee (the “Committee”) subpoenaed Wahlert, Hillary, Lewis, Ackerman and other ALJs to testify before the Committee. (*Id.*) Wahlert then delayed the evaluations until after the ALJs testified, implying that the evaluations might turn on whether Ackerman and the other ALJs testified negatively against Wahlert, Hillary and Lewis. (*Id.*)

Ackerman provided testimony to the Committee regarding the Bureau’s work environment, and the pressures put on the ALJs by Wahlert to render decisions in favor of employers. (*Id.*) She testified that the ALJs are powerless to stop what Wahlert is doing, but that they will continue to protest. (*Id.*)

Wahlert subsequently conducted Ackerman’s yearly evaluation in November 2014, during which Wahlert gave Ackerman a “does not meet expectations / meets expectations” rating. (*Id.* at 7-8). This negative evaluation – the first in Ackerman’s tenure at IWD – was in retaliation for Ackerman’s testimony and other ongoing protected conduct, and was based on erroneous information and faulty application of the rating criteria. (*Id.*)

On December 11, 2014, Ackerman was suspended by IWD pending the completion of an investigation into an allegation of misconduct in the Bureau. (*Id.* at 8). There were no grounds for the suspension, and it was in retaliation for Ackerman’s protected conduct. (*Id.*)

On January 11, 2015, Wahlert resigned as director of IWD and Beth Townsend was appointed acting director of IWD. (*Id.*). Townsend was subsequently appointed as director of IWD on February 3, 2015. (*Id.* at 9).

On January 30, 2015, after keeping Ackerman on suspension for over seven weeks, IWD terminated Ackerman based on the false allegation of misconduct in the Bureau. (*Id.* at 8). As with the suspension, there are no grounds for the termination, and it is in retaliation for Ackerman engaging in protected conduct. (*Id.*).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY CONSIDERING THE TERMS OF THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT AND PLAINTIFF'S GRIEVANCE FILING IN RULING ON DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS.**

#### **A. Preservation of Error.**

Ackerman preserved error by arguing to the lower court that examination of the CBA and any remedy it provides was inappropriate for a motion to dismiss, and further by timely filing an Application for Interlocutory Appeal from the Ruling and Order on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Count VIII of Plaintiff's Third Amended Petition.

#### **B. Standard of Review.**

This Court's review of a district court's granting of a motion to dismiss is for correction of errors at law. *Mueller v. Wellmark, Inc.*, 818

N.W.2d 244, 253 (Iowa 2012). The Court’s review is “limited to the issues raised and allegations contained in the petition. The well-pleaded facts are taken as true, and any ambiguity or uncertainty in the pleading is resolved in favor of the party resisting the motion.” *Warford v. Des Moines Transit Auth.*, 381 N.W.2d 622, 623 (Iowa 1986).

**C. Argument.**

A motion to dismiss “cannot allege new facts not found in the pleadings unless judicial notice can be taken of the additional facts.” *Warford*, 381 N.W.2d at 623; *Curtis v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 270 N.W.2d 447, 448 (Iowa 1978). The Court accepts “as true the facts alleged in the petition and typically do[es] not consider facts contained in either the motion to dismiss or any of its accompanying attachments.” *Dier v. Peters*, 815 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2012).

Ackerman made one general reference to the CBA in her Third Amended Petition, in paragraph 44, in which she stated that “IWD has failed to follow the protocols regarding Plaintiff’s suspension required by the collective bargaining agreement covering Plaintiff, in further retaliation for Plaintiff’s protected conduct.” (App. at 8). Ackerman, in her Third Amended Petition, never referred to the specific terms of the CBA, nor specifically incorporated by reference the CBA into the allegations of the

### Third Amended Petition.

In their motion, Defendants argued that Ackerman could not assert a claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy because the CBA provides Ackerman an adequate avenue to challenge her termination, thereby making the tort claim unnecessary. (App. at 19). Defendants not only provided the court with the website address to review the CBA, but also attached to their motion Ackerman’s AFSCME Council 61 Grievance Form, stating her grievance related to her termination. (*Id.* at 19, 21). Defendants argued that the court could take judicial notice of the CBA because, they claimed, the CBA is part of the public record. (*Id.* at 19). At oral arguments, Defendants’ counsel argued that the Court could “take notice of that collective bargaining agreement,” because “it’s a public record as posted on the Department of Administrative Services website.” (*Id.* at 91-92). Defendants’ counsel stated that “Section 10” of the CBA “specifically incorporates no reprisal language of the whistleblowing statute [Iowa Code § 70A.28] into the [CBA]. . . . [T]here’s a specific provision in the contract that deals exactly with what Ms. Ackerman is claiming of here.” (*Id.* at 93).

The court, at oral argument and in its Ruling, accepted Defendants’ claim that it could consider the CBA’s terms when rendering its decision. (*Id.*; App. at 35-36). The court and Defendants’ counsel engaged in the

following discussion at the hearing:

THE COURT: So you're saying she still has a right under the contract.

MR. PETERZALEK: She, under the contract, could raise, and, in fact, is allowed to raise, the issue of her being terminated as a reprisal for her whistleblowing violation of the contract in a grievance and arbitration process. Absolutely.

THE COURT: So the protection that the plaintiff is seeking here that violation of public policy or as a matter of public policy, that's still a protection she has.

MR. PETERZALEK: It's a protection she has expressly under the contract and referring to Section 10 of the AFSCME contract.

*(Id.* at 93).

In its Ruling, the court concluded that Ackerman's "employment is subject to a collective bargaining agreement, negotiated for her and others in her person," and ruled that "[t]o the extent that the [collective bargaining] agreement provides for a remedy relating to wrongful discharge, Plaintiff is not allowed to apply the narrow exception Iowa courts have reserved for at-will employment to her current situation." (*Id.* at 36). In doing so, the court improperly considered the terms of the CBA.

While Ackerman alleged, in her Third Amended Petition, that her employment was subject to the CBA, she did not attach nor incorporate by reference the terms of the CBA. She simply alleged that "IWD has failed to follow the protocols regarding Plaintiff's suspension required by the

collective bargaining agreement covering Plaintiff, in further retaliation for Plaintiff's protected conduct." (*Id.* at 8). In making this one, general reference to the CBA, Plaintiff was not incorporating into her Third Amended Petition the entirety of the CBA and all of its terms. The CBA is outside the scope of the Third Amended Petition, making the court's consideration of it inappropriate.

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