IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 16-0287

SUSAN ACKERMAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

**STATE OF IOWA, IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT,
TERESA WAHLERT, TERESA HILLARY, and DEVON LEWIS,**

Defendants-Appellees.

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE SCOTT D. ROSENBERG, JUDGE**

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

**Mr. Thomas Miller
IOWA ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Mr. Jeffrey Peterzalek
Mr. Matthew Oetker
Ms. Susan Hemminger
Assistant Attorneys General
Administrative Law Division
Hoover Building, Second Floor
1305 East Walnut Street
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Tele: 515-281-6839; Fax: 515-281-4209
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS-
APPELLEES**

PROOF OF SERVICE

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ERROR ON HER CLAIM THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSIDERED EVIDENCE AND EVEN IF ERROR WERE PRESERVED, APPELLANT HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Issue Preservation

“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before [an appellate court] will decide them on appeal.” *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (citations omitted). While asserting within her brief she presented the issue to the lower court, Appellant’s Brief p. 12, Ackerman failed to cite to any portion of the record to support this assertion. Despite noting that the State requested the district court take judicial notice of Ackerman’s post-termination grievance and applicable

³ This language is identical to the language set forth in Article II, section 10 of the CBA as well as to language contained in Iowa Code section 70A.28—a statute that serves as the basis for Ackerman’s Count I claim.

CBA, nowhere within her Resistance to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss or her accompanying brief does Ackerman resist the State’s request or otherwise assert the district court’s consideration of such material is improper. To the contrary, throughout her district court and appellate filings, Ackerman affirmatively invoked the fact that she is covered by a CBA as support for her argument that dismissal is improper. In fact, in her Application for Interlocutory Review, Ackerman identifies her employment being governed by a CBA as a central fact to the issue presented. *See* App. pp. 38-39; 2/12/16 Application at pp. 1-2 (stating the issue presented is “whether an employee covered by a collective bargaining agreement . . . has a recognizable tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy”). Simply put, Ackerman failed to present to the district court the arguments she seeks to assert herein.

Ackerman also asserts error was preserved by virtue of her “timely filing an Application for Interlocutory Review” Appellant’s Brief at p. 12. However, error “is not preserved by filing a notice of appeal” and while such an assertion is “a common statement in briefs, it is erroneous, for the notice of appeal has nothing to do with error preservation.” Thomas A. Mayers & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, *Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa: Perspectives on Present Practice*, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39,

48 (Fall 2006). Rather, as noted above, “the error preservation rules [generally] require a party to raise an issue in the trial court and obtain a ruling from the trial court” and filing a notice of appeal simply “divests the trial court of jurisdiction.” *Id.*

Finally, even had Ackerman argued to the district court that judicial notice could not be taken, the district court did not decide the issue. In order to have preserved error in light of the Ruling entered, Ackerman should have filed a motion requesting the district court address the issue. *Taft v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 828 N.W.2d 309, 323 (Iowa 2013).

For these reasons, not only did Ackerman fail to preserve error, she affirmatively referenced and relied upon the CBA in both her district court and appellate filings.

Standard of Review

Generally, evidentiary rulings are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Williams v. Hedican*, 561 N.W.2d 817, 822 (Iowa 1997). *But see Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Nancy J. Nevins & Re/Max West Realty, Inc.*, No. 13-0944, 2014 WL 957616, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. March 12, 2014) (appearing to review district court’s decision to take judicial notice of evidence under an error of law standard).

Argument

Ackerman complains the district court erred in considering the CBA and that she merely “made one general reference to the CBA in her Third Amended Petition” Appellant’s Brief at p. 13. However, a review of her Third Amended Petition reveals Ackerman made repeated CBA references; namely:

- In ¶ 15, Ackerman referenced a CBA group grievance concerning her peers and the work place;
- in ¶ 16, Ackerman alleged Wahlert violated the resolution to the CBA group grievance alleged in the preceding paragraph;
- in ¶¶ 24 & 25, Ackerman referenced a grievance she filed under the CBA;
- in ¶ 29, Ackerman asserts that sick leave is a benefit under the CBA (Article IX, section 10) and further references under what circumstances the CBA allows management to request medical certification/verification;
- in ¶ 44, Ackerman specifically avers that a CBA covers her employment and alleges IWD failed to follow the provisions of the CBA in its discipline of her;
- in ¶¶ 46 & 47, Ackerman references her union steward.

(App. pp. 3-4, 5, 8; Third Amend. Pet. pp. 3-4, 5, 8).

Additionally, while criticizing the district court for concluding her “employment is subject to a collective bargaining agreement” that “provides for a remedy relating to wrongful discharge,” Appellant’s Brief p. 15,

Ackerman, herself, asserted as much within her Third Amended Petition (as set forth above) and her district court brief. Specifically, within her brief in opposition to the motion to dismiss, Ackerman stated “she is covered by a CBA and she cannot be suspended or discharged except for ‘proper cause.’” (App. p. 26; 12/14/15 Brief at p. 4). *See also* App. p. 24; 12/14/15 Brief at p. 2 (stating Ackerman “is subject to a CBA that allows for certain limited employee protections and remedies”). Simply put, there is no need to examine whether judicial notice could be taken given that all references the district court made were to facts presented by Ackerman. For this reason alone, no basis for reversal exists. *See e.g., Homan v. Branstad*, 864 N.W.2d 321, 324 (Iowa 2015) (considering governmental report where plaintiff, in part, cited the report in the petition).

Next, even assuming judicial notice of the CBA was taken, Ackerman failed to demonstrate such was improper. Judicial notice of adjudicative facts (*i.e.*, controlling or operative facts, as opposed to background facts, which helps the court determine how the law applies to the parties) may be taken where the fact is generally known within the court’s jurisdiction or where the fact is “capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.” *Rhodes v. State*, 848 N.W.2d 22, 31 (Iowa 2014) (quoting Iowa R. Evid. 5.201(b)). As part

of its motion to dismiss, the State directed the district court to the applicable CBA published by the Iowa Department of Administrative Service, which, in part, is responsible for executive branch human resource management and, specifically, “the negotiation and administration of collective bargaining agreements on behalf of the executive branch of the state and its departments and agencies as provided in chapter 20.” Iowa Code section 8A.402(1)(g). Thus, the CBA “is a matter of public record and easily verifiable.” *Williams v. Aona*, 210 P.3d 501, 511 n.6 (Haw. 2009) (taking judicial notice of a public sector CBA). *See also Stone v. Writer’s Guild of America West, Inc.*, 101 F.3d 1312, 1313-14 (9th Cir. 1996) (taking judicial notice of CBA in reviewing motion to dismiss because “its authenticity is not at issue, and it is referred to in the complaint”); *Jestice v. Butler Tech. and Career Dev. Sch. Bd. of Educ.*, No. 1:11-cv-101, 2012 WL 71021, at *2 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 10, 2012) (taking “judicial notice of the collective bargaining agreement as a public document”); *Pro-Football, Inc. v. McCants*, 51 A.3d 586, 596 n.6 (Md. 2012) (taking judicial notice of the National Football League’s CBA, which was accessed via website); *Bonner v. County of San Diego*, 139 Cal. App. 4th 1336, 1342 n.3 (Cal. Ct. App. 2006) (taking judicial notice of CBA for limited purpose). As noted by one court, judicial notice may be taken of a

CBA in adjudicating a motion to dismiss because “such documents properly are considered [] materials ‘not subject to reasonable dispute’ because they are ‘capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.’” *Densmore v. Mission Linen Supply*, F. Supp. 3d , , 2016 WL 696503, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 22, 2016) (citations omitted). The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals has even taken judicial notice of arbitration decisions awarded under a collective bargaining agreement. *Stacks v. Southwestern Bell Yellow Pages, Inc.*, 27 F.3d 1316, 1326 n.3 (8th Cir. 1994). As established through the above-referenced authority, because the CBA governing Ackerman’s employment is a public document, capable of accurate and ready determination, judicial notice is proper.

The only authority cited by Ackerman in support of contention that judicial notice may not be taken is *Warford v. Des Moines Metropolitan Transit Authority*, 381 N.W.2d 622 (Iowa 1986). Appellant’s Brief at p. 16. Ackerman asserts *Warford* stands for the proposition that an agreement, such as the CBA, “is not the type of evidence that is ‘common knowledge or capable of certain verification.’” Appellant’s Opening Brief at p. 16 (quoting *Warford v. Des Moines Metropolitan Transit Authority*, 381 N.W.2d at 623). Review of *Warford* clearly distinguishes that case from the

present matter. Contrary to Ackerman’s suggestion, *Warford* did not involve a public collective bargaining agreement, but rather, a 28E agreement purportedly signed by the political subdivisions in the Des Moines area. *Warford v. Des Moines Metropolitan Transit Authority*, 381 N.W.2d at 623. Unlike the 28E agreement at issue in *Warford*, the public document at issue in this case is capable of accurate and ready determination. The district court was provided with the website from the state department possessing the statutory authority to “administer the collective bargaining agreements on behalf of the executive branch” Iowa Code section 8A.402(a)(g). See also <https://das.iowa.gov/human-resources/collective-bargaining> (last accessed on September 19, 2016) (copies of all executive branch collective bargaining agreements).

Finally, assuming arguendo that judicial notice could not have been taken of the CBA, any error was immaterial and harmless. See Iowa Code section 619.16 (providing “[t]he court, in every stage of an action, must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the adverse party; and no judgment shall be reversed or affected by reason of such error or defect”). See also *In re Detention of Blaise*, 830 N.W.2d 310, 320 n.6 (Iowa 2013) (referring to section 619.16 as one of Iowa’s harmless-error statutes). While recognizing Ackerman is

covered under a CBA (a fact Ackerman herself alleged within paragraph 44 of her Third Amended Petition), the district court neither cites nor quotes to any specific provision of the CBA and the court's analysis is not based on any specific CBA provision. (App. pp. 34 - 36 ; 1/26/16 Ruling pp. 1-3). Simply put, other than acknowledging the existence of the CBA, Ackerman can point to no aspect of the Ruling as evidence the district court improperly relied on any provision of the CBA. Therefore, even if error were found to exist, it does not warrant reversal.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE STATE'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND ORDERED COUNT VIII (WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY) OF THE THIRD AMENDED PETITION BE DISMISSED.

Issue Preservation

The State does not assert Ackerman failed to preserve error on her substantive appeal of the district court's dismissal of Count VIII of the Third Amended Petition.

Standard of Review

"The grant or denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed for errors at law." *McGill v. Fish*, 790 N.W.2d 113, 116 (Iowa 2010) (citation omitted). For purposes of adjudicating a motion to dismiss, the court accepts as true "the well-pleaded facts in the petition, but not the conclusions." *Ostrem v.*

Prideco Secure Loan Fund, LP, 841 N.W.2d 882, 891 (Iowa 2014) (quoting *Kingsway Cathedral v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 711 N.W.2d 6, 8 (Iowa 2006)).

Argument

1. Introduction.

“Iowa follows the majority of states by carving out a public-policy exception to the general rule of at-will employment for wrongful-discharge claims.” *Dorshkind v. Oak Park Place of Dubuque II, L.L.C.*, 835 N.W.2d 293, 300 (Iowa 2013). The wrongful discharge cause of action was created as “the public-policy exception to the employment-at-will doctrine.” *Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc.*, 764 N.W.2d 751, 761 (Iowa 2009) (citations omitted).

In *Fitzgerald v. Salsbury Chemical, Inc.*, 613 N.W.2d 275, 280-81 (Iowa 2000), the Court traced the history of the at-will employment doctrine and the exceptions thereto. The Court noted the roots of at-will employment were more than a century old, perhaps originating in an 1877 treatise, and in direct contradiction to the traditional English rule, which presumed employment was for a one-year term. *Id.* at 280 & 280 n.1 (citations omitted). According to the Court, through the passage of time, the doctrine began to weaken and in recent years, “three exceptions to the at-will employment doctrine have surfaced to add employee protections to the

employer/employee relationship,” namely: “(1) discharges in violation of public policy, (2) discharges in violations of employee handbooks which constitute a unilateral contract, and (3) discharges in violation of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing.” *Id.* at 280-81 (citations omitted). Iowa only adopted the first two exceptions. *Id.* at 281. With respect to the exception relevant to this appeal, this Court “adopted a narrow public-policy exception to the general rule of at-will employment,” which “limits an employer’s discretion to discharge an at-will employee when the discharge would undermine a clearly defined and well-recognized public policy of the state.” *Berry v. Liberty Holdings, Inc.*, 803 N.W.2d 106, 109 (Iowa 2011).

Undisputedly, Ackerman is not an at-will employee. (App. p. 8, ¶ 44; Third Amend. Pet. p. 8, ¶ 44). Instead, Ackerman’s employment is governed under the terms of a collective bargaining agreement authorized under Iowa Code chapter 20. (App. p. 8, ¶ 44; Third Amend. Pet. p. 8, ¶ 44). Notwithstanding the protections she possesses under the CBA (and notwithstanding the fact the “public policy” upon which Ackerman seeks to base her claim already provides for a legislative created cause of action, *see* Iowa Code section 70A.28), Ackerman contends the fact she is not an at-will employee should not bar her claim.

2. *The Iowa Supreme Court has Held Claims for Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy are only Available for At-will Employees.*

The district court properly concluded the wrongful termination in violation of public policy cause of action is limited to at-will employees and because Ackerman’s employment was subject to a CBA, Ackerman “is not allowed to apply the narrow exception Iowa courts have reserved for at-will employment” (App. p. 36; 1/26/16 Ruling p. 3). Within her Opening Brief, Ackerman disagrees, asserting the Iowa Supreme Court has never limited the wrongful termination exception to at-will employees. Appellant’s Brief p. 19.

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